
CITY OF BRUNSWICK 
601 Gloucester Street * Post Office Box 550 * Brunswick * Georgia * 31520-0550 * (912) 267-5500 * Fax (912) 267-5549 

Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor    City Attorney 
Julie T. Martin, Mayor Pro Tem  Brian D. Corry 
John A. Cason III, Commissioner 
Felicia M. Harris, Commissioner           City Manager 
Kendra L. Rolle, Commissioner  Regina M. McDuffie 

www.brunswickga.org 
AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER 

AGENDA 
*** 

BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION  
REGULAR SCHEDULED COMMISSION MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 4, 2023 AT 6:00 P.M. 
1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 

& 
STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESS: 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

CALL TO ORDER **INVOCATION **PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
1. Adoption of October 4, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Agenda.
PUBLIC COMMENT 
RECOGNITION(S), PRESENTATION(S), & AWARD(S)
2. Proclamation Proclaiming the Month of October as Domestic Violence Month.  (Encl. 1)
ITEM(S) TO CONSIDER FOR APPROVAL
3. Consider Approval of September 20, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes. (subject to any necessary 
changes.)  (N. Atkinson) (Encl. 2)
4. Consider Approval of August 31, 2023 Financial Reports.  (K. Mills) (Encl. 3)
5. Consider Approval of Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) Reclassification and 
Reconciliation of Funds to Closeout Completed Accounts.  (R. McDuffie) (Encl. 4)
6. Consider Approval of Funding for Grant Writing Consultant.  (R. McDuffie) (Encl. 5)
CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE
7. Consider Approval of Amendments to Employment Contract Between the City of Brunswick and City 
Manager Regina McDuffie.
EXECUTIVE SESSION 

http://www.brunswickga.org/
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga


 

Mayor and City Council of  
 

Brunswick, Georgia 
 

Proclamation 
 

WHEREAS, domestic violence impacts countless Brunswickans, without regard to age, 
race, gender, religion, or economic status; as victims suffer at the hands of a 
spouse or partner, it affects their children, families, and entire communities;  

 
WHEREAS, victims should have help to find the compassion, comfort and healing they  
                             need, and domestic abusers should be punished to the full extent of the law; 
 and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Brunswick joins with others across Georgia and the nation in 
 supporting victims of domestic violence, as well as local programs, state 
 coalitions, national organizations, and other agencies nationwide who are 
 committed to increasing public awareness of domestic violence and sending a 
 clear message to abusers that domestic violence is not tolerated in Brunswick. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in recognition of the important work done by survivors, domestic 
violence programs and victims’ service providers, I, Cosby Johnson as Mayor of the City of  
Brunswick along with and my fellow Commissioners do hereby proclaim the month of October 
2023 as “Domestic Violence Awareness Month”, honoring domestic violence survivors and 
advocates.  

 
 
 

In witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and 
caused this seal to be affixed.  
 
 
 
 
Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor 
 
Attest: ___________________________ 
       Naomi D. Atkinson, City Clerk 
 
Date:  October 4, 2023                        

 



OFFICIAL MINUTES 
BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION  
REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 20, 2023 

AT 6:00 P.M. 
1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 

& 
STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESS: 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 
 
PRESENT:  Honorable Mayor Cosby Johnson, Mayor Pro-Tem Julie Martin ~ (virtually via zoom),  
                       Commissioner John Cason III, Commissioner Felicia Harris and Commissioner Kendra Rolle  
CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Johnson ~ meeting began at 6:00 p.m.                                  
INVOCATION:  Reverend William Lewis, First Jordan Grove Missionary Baptist Church  
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Recited in unison by all in attendance. 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
1.   Adoption of September 20, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Agenda.  
      Mayor Pro Tem Harris made a motion to adopt August 20, 2023 agenda; seconded by Commissioner  
      Harris. Motion passed unanimously. 
PUBLIC COMMENT      

1) Tamiko Exford, Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), Intergovernmental Affairs 
Specialist provided updates regarding FEMA Assistance and Small Business Administration (SBA) 
Assistance.  

2) Anita Steenson, Public Affairs Specialist, Small Business Administration, provided information 
regarding small business loans. 

ALCOHOL LICENSE VIOLATION 
2.  Consider Disciplinary Actions for Jerk Shack Alcohol Sales Violations ~ Selling and Serving Alcohol  
     After Hours.  (A. Brown) 
     Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to place Jerk Shack on three-month (3) probation and have  
     owner train staff on when the business bar should close; seconded Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed  
     unanimously. 
APPOINTMENT(S) 
3.  Coastal African American Historic Preservation Commission – One Appointment 
     Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to appoint Christopher J. Epps to the above-subject commission;  
     seconded by Commissioner Harris.  Motion passed unanimously. 
ITEM(S) TO CONSIDER FOR APPROVAL 
4.  Consider Approval of September 6, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes. (subject to any necessary  
      changes.)  (N. Atkinson)  
     Commissioner Cason made a motion to approve the above-referenced minutes; seconded by  
     Commissioner Harris.  Motion passed unanimously. 
5.  Consider Approval of Resolution to Adopt the 2023 Comprehensive Plan.  (J. Hunter) 
     Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to approve the above-referenced resolution; seconded by  
     Commissioner Harris.  Motion passed unanimously. 
6.  Consider Approval Authorizing Resolution GDOT/FTA 5307 Transit Funding Application.  (J. Hunter) 
      Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to approve above-subject resolution; seconded by Commissioner  
      Harris.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga


2 
 

CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
7.  Consider Approval of Agreement Between the City of Brunswick and Glynn-Brunswick Land Bank  
     Authority for the Provision of Services.    
     Commissioner Rolle made a motion to approve the above-referenced agreement with amendments  
     discussed; seconded by Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed unanimously. 
8.  Consider Approval of Amendments to Employment Contract Between the City of Brunswick and City  
     Manager Regina McDuffie. 
     Commissioner Cason made a motion to defer consideration of the above-referenced item number eight  
     (8); seconded by Commissioner Harris.  Motion passed unanimously. 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Commissioner Harris made a motion to hold an executive session to discuss litigation; seconded by 
Commissioner Rolle.  Motion passed unanimously. 
RECONVENE FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Mayor Johnson announced no action was taken. 

Commissioner Harris made a motion to adjourn; seconded by Commissioner Rolle. Motion passed 
unanimously.  
 
MEETING AJOURNED – meeting adjourned at 7:59 p.m. 
 
 
        /s/Cosby H. Johnson   
        Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor  
 
Attest: /s/ Naomi D. Atkinson 
            Naomi D. Atkinson 
            City Clerk 



















Page | 1 
 

 

SUBJECT:  Funding for Grant Writing Consultant  

 

COMMISSION ACTION REQUESTED ON:             October 4th, 2023  

PURPOSE: To provide funding for grant writing, research, and administration to enhance 
the City’s ability to identify and apply for grant program opportunities.  Funding 
opportunities in Housing, Public Safety, Public Works, and Recreation are readily 
available through federal and state programs.  However, it takes time and dedicated 
resources to research and identify which programs may be suitable for the City.  This 
position will work to identify opportunities and prepare the appropriate information and 
documents in cooperation with city staff for submission to apply for programs identified.    

HISTORY:  Currently, the City has a number of grants being administered through our 
Community Development Block Grant program, Public Works, Public Safety and 
Recreation.  Two grants totaling $3.1 million were recently awarded with the assistance of 
the grant writer.  She has worked to research, review and prepare grants for the city 
initially on a voluntary basis and currently on a temporary basis.   

FACTS AND ISSUES: Grant opportunities are available in various areas including public 
safety, recreation, infrastructure, and services.  Previously, the City has not had a 
dedicated position to research, exam and identify potential grant opportunities.  The grant 
specialist that handles the CDBG program works in a different capacity and will assist with 
administration of the grants awarded.  Funds were not included in the budget for this 
position.   

BUDGET INFORMATION: Contract agreement not to exceed $20,000 for the remainder 
of the fiscal year.  Funds will be transferred from contingency to the City Manager’s 
budget.   

 

OPTIONS: 

1. Approve the funding to support the Grant Writing consultant.   

2. Do not approve the funding to support the Grant Writing consultant.   

3. Take no action at this time. 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

Approve the funding to support the grant writing consultant.   



Page | 2 

DEPARTMENT: City Manager’s Office 

Prepared by: Regina M. McDuffie 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS: 

The grant writing consultant has a proven track record and is currently working on a 
temporary assignment to prepare several grants for the city.   

ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve the funding requested.  

________________________________ 

City Manager              

_____9/26/23___________ 

Date     



 

 1 

A SERVICE AGREEMENT 
BY AND BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF BRUNSWICK 
AND 

MARYJO DIANGELO 
 
 THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (the "Agreement"), dated September 
1, 2023, between the City of Brunswick (hereinafter referred to as the “City”) and Mary Jo 
DiAngelo of 537 Brockinton South, Saint Simons Island, Georgia 31522 (hereinafter referred to 
as the “Contractor"). 
 
 WHEREAS the Contractor is engaged in the business of providing professional services 
in the field of Grant Research, Preparation and Administration in the State of Georgia and 
elsewhere; and 
 
 WHEREAS, this Contractor is uniquely qualified to provide these services based on 
his/her prior experience with the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS the City desires to avail itself of these professional services of the Contractor 
from time to time in connection with the City’s business activities and the Contractor desires to 
enter into this Agreement with the City. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual promises and agreements contained 
in this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1. Employment of Contractor 

 
The City hereby agrees to engage the Contractor and the Contractor agrees 
to perform the services hereinafter set forth. The City and the Contractor 
agree that the City Manager or his/her designee shall monitor this 
Agreement. 

 
2. Taxes  

 
The Contractor shall be responsible to withhold or deduct premiums, taxes, 
or levies as the case may be as required under Federal and State law and 
the Contractor shall be responsible to withhold and remit any deductions for 
taxes, levies or contributions imposed by any authority with respect to both 
the remuneration paid under this Agreement and the work incidental 
thereto. 

 
3.  Term 

 
This Agreement shall be for a one (1) year term beginning on October 1st, 
2023, and shall continue through June 30, 2024 (the "Term"). These dates 
may be delayed upon the written consent of both parties. Nothing in this 
paragraph shall be construed as affecting the rights of the parties to 



 

 2 

terminate this Agreement at an earlier date in accordance with sections in 
this Agreement pertaining to termination. 

 
4. Services 
 

The Contractor covenants and agrees to provide assistance with the 
research, preparation, compliance and administration of grant applications 
and grant awards as assigned by the City Manager or his/her designee. 
 
The Contractor agrees to maintain accounts and records, including 
personnel, property, and financial records, adequate to identify and account 
for all costs pertaining to the Agreement and such other records for a 
minimum of six (6) years to assure proper accounting for all funds. These 
records will be available for audit purposes to the City, the Georgia 
Department of Community Affairs, the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development, the Comptroller General of the United States or any 
other authorized representatives and will be retained for six (6) years after 
Agreement completion unless permission to destroy them is granted by the 
City, or until all pending matters are closed. Moreover, the City, the Georgia 
Department of Community Affairs, the U. S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development, the Comptroller General of the United States or any 
authorized representative shall have access to any books, documents, 
papers, and records of the Contractor which are directly pertinent to this 
Agreement for the purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts, and 
transcriptions. 

 
5. Compensation 
 

For the services outlines in Section 3, the City shall pay the Contractor for 
services a fee of Twenty-five Dollars ($24.00) per hour (the "Fee"), payable 
within 30 days of Client’s receipt of Contractor's invoice.  Payment will be 
billed on the basis of a twenty (20) hour work week unless otherwise 
documented and approved.  Full contract payment should not exceed 
twenty thousand dollars ($20,000).     

 
6. Method of Payment 
 

The City agrees to pay the Contractor at the end of each calendar month 
based on the submission and approval of the Contractor's invoice.  Invoice 
shall state grant project detail, day, hours of service, and rate per hour with 
sub and grand totals.  Invoices will be processed within thirty (30) days of 
receipt.  

 
 
 
 



 

 3 

 
7. Funding 
 

Contractor understands that due to the unique nature of government 
funding, continuation of this contract is based on an allocation of annual 
funding. 

 
8. Benefits 
 

With the exception of rights herein expressly conferred, nothing expressed 
or mentioned or to be implied herein is intended or shall be construed to 
give to any person other than the parties hereto, any legal or equitable right, 
remedy or claim under or in respect hereto or any agreement, condition or 
provision herein contained and shall not be construed as creating any debt 
as against the City in favor of any such person; this Agreement and the 
covenants, conditions and provisions hereof being intended to be used for 
the sole and exclusive benefits of the portions hereto. 

 
9.  Applicable Law 
 

This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted under the laws of the 
State of Georgia.  If any of the terms of this Agreement shall be finally 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part, the remaining 
provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect and be binding upon 
the parties hereto. 

 
10. Independent Contractor 
 

It is agreed for the purpose of this Agreement, the Contractor shall be 
deemed to be an Independent Contractor and shall be responsible for the 
payment of all employee taxes, salaries, and all other expenses incurred in 
connection with the performance hereunder. 

 
11. Assignability 
 

The Contractor shall not assign any interest in this Agreement, and shall not 
transfer any interest in the same, whether by assignment or novation, 
without the prior written consent of the City thereto.  

 
12. Equal Employment Opportunity 
 

There shall be no discrimination against any employee who is employed in 
the performance of the services covered by this Agreement, or against any 
applicant for such employment because of race, color, religion, sex, national 
origin, age, or disability. This provision shall include, but is not limited to the 
following: employment, upgrading, demotion or transfer; recruitment or 



 

 4 

recruitment advertising, layoff or termination, rates of pay or other forms of 
compensation, and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 

 
13. Termination of Agreement 
 

The City may terminate this Agreement at any time by giving written notice 
to the Contractor of such termination and specifying the effective date 
thereof, at least thirty (30) days before the effective date of termination. The 
Contractor shall be entitled to receive just and equitable compensation for 
any satisfactory services performed prior to the date of termination. 

 
The Contractor may terminate this Agreement at any time by giving written 
notice to the City of such termination and specifying the effective date 
thereof, at least thirty (30) days before the effective date of termination. The 
Contractor shall be entitled to receive just and equitable compensation for 
any satisfactory services performed prior to the date of termination. 

 
14. Indemnification 
 
 To the extent liability or taxes is the result of the Contractor’s negligent 

performance under this Agreement save the City against any liability, 
contributions or taxes under this Agreement. The Contractor shall make 
good any losses or expenses including attorney's fees, suffered by the City 
arising out of injury or damage to the extent such injury or damage is caused 
by the negligence of the Contractor, or any subcontractor, materialmen, or 
any one directly or indirectly employed by any of them while engaged in the 
performance of any work for the Contractor. 

 
 Nothing herein shall be interpreted as a waiver of the City Sovereign 

Immunity as provided for under the Constitution and Statutes of the State 
of Georgia. 

 
15.  Conflict of Interest  
 

No officer or employee of any local jurisdiction or its designees, agents, or 
authorities, no member of the governing body, and no other public official 
of the City who exercises any function or responsibility with respect to this 
Agreement, during his/her tenure or for one (1) year thereafter, shalI have 
any interest, direct or indirect, in any Agreement or subcontract, or the 
proceeds shall cause to be incorporated in all subcontracts the language 
set forth in this paragraph prohibiting conflict of interest. 

 
16.  Prohibition Against Contingent Fees 
 

The Contractor warrants that he has not employed or retained any company 
or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for the 



 

 5 

Administrator to solicit or secure this Agreement and that he has not paid or 
agreed to pay any person, company, corporation, individual or firm, other 
than a bona fide employee working solely for the Administrator any fee, 
commission, percentage, or gift or other consideration contingent upon or 
resulting from the award or making of this Agreement. 

 
17.  Notice 

 
It shall be sufficient service of any notice, approval, consent, request, 
complaint, demand or other communication if the same shall be delivered 
or mailed by first class registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, 
postage prepaid and addressed as follows: 
 
 City:    City of Brunswick 

Attn: City Manager 
601 Gloucester Street 
Brunswick, GA 31520 

 
 Contractor:   Mary Jo DiAngelo 
     537 Brockinton South 
     St. Simons Island, Georgia 31522 

 
The parties hereto may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further 
or different addresses to which subsequent notices, approvals, consents, 
requests, complaints, demands, or other communication shall be sent or 
person to whose attention the same shall be directed. 
 

18. Amendments 
 
This Agreement may be amended from time to time only if the amendment 
is in writing and mutually agreed to by both parties prior to its effective date. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have hereunto set their respective hands and seals as at 
the date written above. 
 
       CONTRACTOR: 
 
 
       ___________________________________ 
       Name: Mary Jo DiAngelo 
 
 
       The City Of Brunswick: 
        
 
       ___________________________________ 
       Name: Regina M. McDuffie 



 

 6 

       Title: City Manager 
        


	Agenda
	Encl. 1 - Domestic Violence Month Proclamation
	Encl. 2 - Sept. 20th Minutes
	Encl. 3 - August 2023 Financials
	Encl. 4 - SPLOST Reclassifications.Reconciliation
	Encl. 5 - Grant Consultant

